

Date : 08/06/95

Page : 1

JFK ASSASSINATION SYSTEM
IDENTIFICATION FORM-----
AGENCY INFORMATION

AGENCY : SSCIA
RECORD NUMBER : 157-10014-10093
RECORDS SERIES : HEARINGS
AGENCY FILE NUMBER : 13-H-02

DOCUMENT INFORMATION

ORIGINATOR : SSCIA
FROM : BISSELL, RICHARD
TO :
TITLE : R-1097
DATE : 09/10/75
PAGES : 84
SUBJECTS : BISSELL, RICHARD
LUMUMBA, PATRICE

DOCUMENT TYPE : TRANSCRIPT
CLASSIFICATION : UNCLASSIFIED
RESTRICTIONS : 1A, 1B
CURRENT STATUS : RELEASED WITH DELETIONS
DATE OF LAST REVIEW : 09/25/98
OPENING CRITERIA :
COMMENTS :

[R] - ITEM IS RESTRICTED

TOP SECRET

ORIGINAL

Vol. 1 OF 3

NATIONAL SECURITY INFORMATION
Unauthorized Disclosure Subject
to Criminal Sanctions

R 1097

The United States Senate

Report of Proceedings

INVENTORIED

DN 2/14/77

BY BC

Hearing held before

Senate Select Committee to Study Governmental
Operations With respect to Intelligence Activities

The Department of State has no objection to the
release or declassification of this document in full
under the provisions of the JFK Assassination Records
Collection Act of 1992 (PL102-526)
Reviewed on 8/12/98 mjr

Wednesday, September 10, 1975

Washington, D. C.

(Stenotype Tape and Waste turned over
to the Committee for destruction)

WARD & PAUL

410 FIRST STREET, S. E.
WASHINGTON, D. C. 20003

(202) 544-6000

TOP SECRET

nash

TOP SECRET

C O N T E N T S

TESTIMONY OF

Richard N. Bissell

PAGE

3

EXHIBITS

NUMBER

Bissell Exhibit No. 1

11

Bissell Exhibit No. 2

30

Bissell Exhibit No. 3

66

Bissell Exhibit No. 4

67

Bissell Exhibit No. 5

69

Bissell Exhibit No. 6

70

Bissell Exhibit No. 7

72

Bissell Exhibit No. 8

74

(Exhibits were retained by counsel.)

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000
WARD & PAUL
410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

shelburne
nash

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

1

EXECUTIVE SESSION

Wednesday, September 10, 1975

United States Senate,
Select Committee to Study Governmental
Operations with Respect to
Intelligence Activities,
Washington, D. C.

The Committee met, pursuant to notice, at 2:20 p.m.,
in Room 608, Capitol Hill Hotel, Senator Gary W. Hart
presiding.

Present: Senator Hart of Colorado (presiding).

Also present: Frederick A. O. Schwarz, Jr., Chief
Counsel; Curtis R. Smothers, Minority Counsel; Frederick
Baron, Rick Inderfurth, Paul Wides, Rhett Dawson and Joseph
DiGenova, Professional Staff Members.

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

2

1 Senator Hart of Colorado. Mr. Bissell, will you
2 stand and be sworn.

3 Do you swear that the testimony you are about to give
4 is the truth, the whole truth and nothing but the truth, so
5 help you God?

6 Mr Bissell. I do.

7 Senator Hart of Colorado. The same circumstances
8 apply as applied under your previous experiences before the
9 Committee. You have the right under our rules to have a
10 member of the Committee present at all times if you choose.
11 And you have also your Constitutional right to counsel if you
12 so choose. You do understand?

13 Mr. Bissell. I understand.

14 Senator Hart of Colorado. We will be under way now.

15 Mr. Baron. You are appearing here voluntarily today
16 without counsel?

17 Mr. Bissell. I am.

18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6008

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

3

TESTIMONY OF RICHARD N. BISSELL

Mr. Baron. Mr. Bissell, since we have talked with you last about the subject of the Congo we have taken testimony from a number of witnesses. The first that we would like to turn to is Bronson Tweedy, who in 1960 and 1961, as I am sure you will recall, was the Chief of the African Division. He indicated to us in his testimony that he had a number of talks with you, probably in the summer or fall of 1960, where the prospect of assassinating Lumumba was raised.

What can you tell us about those discussions?

Mr. Bissell. I am afraid I can't tell you anything. I don't remember the specific discussions with him. It seems to me, however, entirely to be expected that such conversations took place. I think I testified previously, but in any case, I remember assigning Justin O'Donnell to study the possibilities and to make plans for the assassination or elimination of Lumumba. And since that was in the Africa area, I think it most unlikely that I would have done that without saying something to the Division Chief about it.

Mr. Baron. Mr. Tweedy's testimony was to the effect that he was in fact not being informed of some on-going operation or some instruction that was contemplated, but rather that you and he were discussing the feasibility of assassinating Lumumba.

Did such discussions take place?

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

210 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

4

1 Mr. Bissell. I don't happen to remember them, but
2 it seems to me entirely probable that they did. And if he
3 said so I would certainly accept that.

4 Mr. Baron. And would you assume that if such dis-
5 cussions took place they would have taken place in the summer
6 or fall of 1960?

7 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

8 Mr. Baron. Would such discussions have involved planning
9 for an actual assassination mission?

10 Mr. Bissell. Yes, planning for, but not necessarily
11 any authorization to take specific steps to implement such
12 a plan.

13 Mr. Baron. Would planning discussions in the sense
14 that you are using the term included sending instruments of
15 assassination to the Congo?

16 Mr. Bissell. They might have, although again I
17 don't happen to remember that. I am aware, I think, that
18 there is a record that something was said, but I had no
19 recollection that things went that far. But that still could
20 have been included in what I mean by the term "planning and
21 preparing".

22 Mr. Baron. Did you give Mr. Tweedy any specific
23 instruction as to steps he was to take to further a plan
24 to assassinate Lumumba?

25 Mr. Bissell. I may have. I don't remember them. The

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

110 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

Mr. Baron. We will turn later to filling out the details of your conversation with Justin O'Donnell.

For the moment, sticking with Mr. Tweedy's testimony, he also testified that during this same period of time he composed cables that went to the Chief of Station in Leopoldville inquiring as to if the Chief of Station could gain access to Lumumba for the purpose of assassinating him.

Did you send such cable?

Mr. Bissell. I would think the record would show whether they were sent. If they were wsent the record would presumably also show if I signed them. And I expect that if they were sent I would have signed them. But I don't happen at this distance in time to remember the specific cables.

Mr. Wides. If you had sent cables of that kind, Mr. Bissell, would they have gone in the normal channels out from the African Division, or might they more likely have gone on a restricted basis from yourself to the Station Chief without --

Mr. Bissell. I think it is very probable that it would

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

6

1 have been the latter, although given the fact of conversations
2 with the Division Chief, presumably he would have been on the
3 distribution for these cables. But probably it would have
4 been restricted to the Director or the Deputy Director or
5 the Division Chief, and probably Mr. Helms' Deputy.

6 Mr. Baron. It was Mr. Tweedy's testimony that although
7 he composed such cables, they went out, as far as he could
8 recall, under your signature or from your office.

9 Mr. Bissell. That would be a very normal procedure.

10 Mr. Baron. Do you recall discussing with Mr. Tweedy
11 the fact that he should write such cables, whether or not you
12 recall the specific cables?

13 Mr. Bissell. I really don't.

14 Mr. Baron. Mr. Tweedy also testified that the cable
15 traffic that he was sending to the Congo was part of a back and
16 forth communication in which he was receiving information from
17 the Chief of Station in Leopoldville about the kind of
18 access that he could gain to Lumumba.

19 Did you read such cables from the Chief of Station in
20 Leopoldville?

21 Mr. Bissell. I am sure I did. I don't remember it
22 specifically.

23 Mr. Wides. Do you recall the question of access
24 being one part of the exploration that you were doing?

25 Mr. Bissell. Yes, that indeed would have been a key

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-5000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

7

1 part of it.

2 Mr. Wides. Do you recall that being so?

3 Mr. Bissell. I don't specifically recall it. But
4 since I am clear that at least in the case of O'Donnell, and
5 I now presume in the case of Mr. Tweedy, I authorized and
6 indeed directed this planning and preparatory activity. A
7 major part of this would have been a search for ways in
8 which access could be gained.

9 Mr. Baron. And what kind of access were you looking
10 for at that time?

11 Mr. Bissell. Obviously I would say the access of an
12 individual who for one reason or another could get close to
13 Lumumba.

14 Mr. Baron. In the summer and very early fall of 1960
15 this would have been access to Lumumba for the purpose of
16 assassinating him rather than snatching him from U.N. custody?

17 Mr. Bissell. Well, it could have been for the pur-
18 pose really of eliminating him from his then political acti-
19 vities. And that could have been assassination, or it
20 could have involved some form of incapacitation, or it could
21 possibly have been, in your words, snatching him so
22 that he could be put into the custody of what we regarded
23 as friendly authorities.

24 Mr. Baron. Would you have sought information from
25 the Chief of Station on whether he could gain access to

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20001

TOP SECRET

8

1 Lumumba for the purpose of poisoning Lumumba.

2 Mr. Bissell. It could very well have. That was one
3 method of elimination, and that was obviously thought about
4 at the time as part of the planning, and almost certainly
5 we would have been in touch with the Chief of Station to see
6 if he could gain access for that purpose.

7 Mr. Baron. Were you also in touch with the Chief of
8 Station to seek access for the shooting Lumumba?

9 Mr. Bissell. I would guess that really the questions
10 to the Chief of Station would have had to do with gaining access
11 for whatever method -- an access that could be used for
12 whatever method of eliminating Lumumba might be simple,
13 practical and workable. And I doubt if the question would
14 have been a different one, depending on the device or weapon
15 to be used.

16 Mr. Baron. To retrace something you said a moment
17 ago, if Mr. Tweedy had authored cables seeking information
18 from the Chief of Station in Leopoldville about gaining
19 access to Lumumba, you would have approved such cables?

20 Mr. Bissell. Yes, I would most certainly have.

21 Excuse me. Let me elaborate on that.

22 Given the procedures and relationships in effect, I
23 think Mr. Tweedy, on the basis of an oral authorization from
24 me, would have had the authority to send such a cable without
25 my signing off on it. But in a matter of this sensitivity

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

9

1 I think it highly likely that he would have drafted the
2 cable, initialed it and sent it to my office for dispatch.

3 Mr. Baron. And you wouldn't dispute his testimony that
4 he did so?

5 Mr. Bissell. Oh, no. His testimony seemed to me to be
6 absolutely consistent with my recollections, which, alas,
7 are somewhat inform. *infirm?*

8 Mr. Baron. Would your discussions with Mr. Tweedy have
9 involved discussing the possibility of poisoning Lumumba?

10 Mr. Bissell. I suppose so.

11 Mr. Baron. We have also taken testimony from the man
12 who was Chief of Station in Leopoldville during this period of
13 time, from mid-summer of 1960 throughout 1961, and he testified--

14 Mr. Bissell. Would you remind me who it was?

15 Mr. Baron. Off the record for a moment.

16 (Discussion off the record.)

17 Senator Hart of Colorado. Back on the record.

18 Mr. Baron. While we were off the record we explained
19 the arrangement under which the Chief of Station would
20 testify before the Committee under alias. And we will refer
21 to him here today as the Chief of Station, or by his alias,
22 which is that of Victor Hedgman.

23 Mr. Bissell, when the Chief of Station testified before
24 us he indicated that at some point in the late summer or
25 early fall of 1960 probably toward the latter part of August

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

10

1 or the very first days in September, he received a cable from
2 CIA headquarters to the effect that a messenger will come
3 to the Congo who you will recognize, and who will bring in-
4 structions which you are to carry out.

5 Did you send such a cable to the Chief of Station?

6 Mr. Bissell. I could have.

7 But I have perhaps a peculiar reason for questioning
8 whether in this particular case I did. And my reason is
9 the following.

10 You will notice that the cable you have just shown me
11 that was sent out by the Director of Central Intelligence in
12 late August, the cable was released by his initials. And
13 it bears the notification that the only other distribution
14 was to be to Mr. Helms, who was then, you will remember,
15 Deputy -- my deputy.

16 Now, it is virtually inconceivable to me, given my
17 knowledge of and involvement in this operation, that the
18 Director would have sent a cable, denied circulation to me
19 and had it circulated to Mr. Helms, if I had been in
20 Washington. And I suspect that we could establish on the
21 record that I was on vacation when the message you have shown
22 me was sent.

23 Mr. Wides. That was in early August?

24 Mr. Baron. Let's introduce as Exhibit No. 1 for
25 this session the document that you are referring to, which

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

11

1 is a cable dated August 26, 1960, from Allen W. Dulles to
2 Leopoldville. And this cable includes the paragraph:

3 "In high quarters here it is the clear-cut conclusion
4 that if LLL continues to hold high office inevitable result
5 will at best be chaos and at worst pave the way for Communist
6 takeover of the Congo with disastrous consequences for the
7 prestige of the U.N. and for the interest of the free world
8 generally. Consequently, we conclude that his removal must
9 be an urgent and prime objective, and that under existing
10 conditions this should be a high priority of our covert action."

(The document referred to was
marked Bissell Exhibit No. 1
for identification.)

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

210 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

12

1 Mr. Baron. Mr. Bissell, would LLL refer to Lumumba
2 in this cable?

3 Mr. Bissell. I believe so.

4 Mr. Baron. And isn't it unusual that this cable
5 bears the designation Allen W. Dulles as opposed to Director?

6 Mr. Bissell. That is unusual.

7 Mr. Baron. What does that signify?

8 Mr. Bissell. I believe this cable was drafted by the
9 Director himself. That would be my inference from the format.

10 Mr. Baron. And does this appear to be Mr. Dulles' initials
11 which are blurred in the copy we have?

12 Mr. Bissell. They may be there, but in any event, the
13 releasing signature is definitely his.

14 If I may complete the answer to your question, for the
15 reason I have given you, my surmise is that I was not
16 in Washington, and probably on vacation, when this was
17 sent. I suspect that I might be able to dig out calendars
18 and establish that if it became very germane.

19 If that is the case, it is quite possible that the
20 cable you asked me about stating that a messenger would
21 soon arrive in Leopoldville was sent also in my absence.

22 Mr. Baron. If such a cable was sent in your absence
23 would you be apprised of it upon your return to headquarters?

24 Mr. Bissell. I suspect so, yes. In this case I would
25 be almost certain that I would.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

13

1 Mr. Baron. And what would such a cable have referred
2 to?

3 Mr. Bissell. Well, I suppose just what that said.
4 Explicitly it refers, as you quoted, or characterized it, to
5 a messenger with instructions to be followed.

6 Mr. Baron. And who was that messenger to be?

7 Mr. Bissell. I have no idea without digging back into the
8 traffic.

9 Mr. Baron. And were those instructions related to
10 the assassination of Lumumba?

11 Mr. Bissell. It certainly sounds as if they were
12 related to his elimination in one way or another.

13 Mr. Wides. Why is that, Mr. Bissell?

14 Mr. Bissell. Just because the method of transmission
15 is peculiar, and suggests high sensitivity. But it seems
16 to me, on the basis of what you have told me of the message,
17 it can be only inference.

18 Mr. Baron. And one means of eliminating Lumumba con-
19 templated at CIA headquarters at this time would have been
20 an assassination?

21 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

22 Mr. Baron. In the testimony of the Chief of Station
23 who was in Leopoldville at that time, he made the representa-
24 tion -- let me back track for a moment.

25 Did you ever discuss with Sidney Gottlieb the assassination

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

14

1 of Lumumba?

2 Mr. Bissell. I think it is very probable that I did.

3 Mr. Baron. What would these discussions have involved?

4 Mr. Wides. Excuse me. Was Mr. Gottlieb at that time
5 science advisor to yourself?

6 Mr. Bissell. I believe he was. I would answer that
7 question definitely if the record shows that he had not yet
8 taken that position. But I am almost sure -- I had better
9 not say that. Assuming that he had assumed the position
10 of science advisor, I think that my answer would stand, that
11 I very probably would have consulted with him.

12 Mr. Wides. For the record, while he was science advisor
13 to the DDP, was he also an official of the TSD component,
14 or was that a separate --

15 Mr. Bissell. No, he was not. His assignment to my
16 office was his full time and sole responsibility.

17 Mr. Baron. And you say that you probably did dis-
18 cuss with Sidney Gottlieb the assassination of Lumumba.

19 What would have been the substance of those discussions?

20 Mr. Bissell. It would have been discussing with him
21 possible weapons or other means to use. When he was my
22 science advisor, I frequently used him as in effect liaison
23 with the Technical Services Division, the person who had
24 been a member of it. And he knew the personnel and he knew
25 a great deal about their programs. I presume that if I had

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD A PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

15

1 had such discussions with him I would have been asking him to
2 give thought to ways and means.

3 Mr. Baron. And you were asking Mr. Gottlieb, then,
4 to think about the technical means by which an assassination
5 could be carried out?

6 Mr. Bissell. Correct.

7 Mr. Wides. That is an assumption that you were, or
8 can you recall now?

9 Mr. Bissell. No, it is an assumption -- it is an in-
10 ference, if you like, from the circumstances. I think it is
11 quite likely that I would have had such discussions with him
12 assuming, as I believe to be true, that he was the science
13 advisor at that time.

14 Mr. Wides. But you have no recollection?

15 Mr. Bissell. No.

16 Senator Hart of Colorado. Excuse me, Mr. Baron.

17 I am going to have to go to vote, and I would just
18 like the record to reflect your acquiescence that there is
19 no committee member here if in fact that is the case.

20 Mr. Bissell. I do so acquiesce, and I am happy to
21 continue.

22 Senator Hart of Colorado. With that understanding
23 you are willing to continue?

24 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

25 Senator Hart of Colorado. Thank you very much.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

16

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645
646
647
648
649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688
689
690
691
692
693
694
695
696
697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731
732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739
740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774
775
776
777
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786
787
788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799
800
801
802
803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811
812
813
814
815
816
817
818
819
820
821
822
823
824
825
826
827
828
829
830
831
832
833
834
835
836
837
838
839
840
84

5

4

6

7

20

74

10

2.

110 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

17

ment of various weapons of a sort appropriate for a clandestine service. And I was aware, I am quite certain, that these included poisons, type of firearms, and a whole range of capabilities. But my belief today, and my recollection, is that I was aware of these as the products, I repeat, of an on-going development program which itself was not targetted at any type individual or operation.

Mr. Baron. And with whom did you have discussions of technical means that might be used to assassinate Lumumba other than Sidney Gottlieb?

Mr. Bissell. I do not know. I could have had with Mr. Roosevelt, whom I think was still the head of the Technical Division. I don't believe it would have been any but those two.

Mr. Baron. This would be Cornelius Roosevelt?

Mr. Bissell. That is correct.

Mr. Baron. Did Mr. Gottlieb express to you his reluctance to participate in an assassination plan?

Mr. Bissell. I don't ever remember his so doing.

Mr. Baron. Did Mr. Gottlieb appear to be willing to see what he could do to obtain or develop the means to be used in such a plan?

Mr. Bissell. I really don't have any recollection that would enable me to answer that. I do believe that -- if he had demurred strongly, and urged its abandonment, or

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

18

1 opposed it, I think it is likely that I would have remembered
2 that position on his part, because I do remember very clearly
3 Justin O'Donnell's reaction. And since I don't remember
4 any such negative reaction from Mr. Gottlieb, my inference is
5 that there probably was none.

6 Mr. Baron. The Chief of Station in Leopoldville at
7 that time further testified to us that in very early
8 September he received a visit from Sidney Gottlieb in the
9 Congo.

10 Did you sent Mr. Gottlieb to the Congo at that time?

11 Mr. Bissell. Probably, if he went there, I certainly
12 would have been fully knowledgeable of it.

13 Mr. Baron. And you would have approved his visit?

14 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

15 Mr. Wides. Particularly if this occurred when he was
16 your science advisor.

17 Mr. Bissell. Right.

18 Mr. Wides. Is it correct that he would only have
19 gone there pursuant to your direction?

20 Mr. Bissell. Correct.

21 Mr. Baron. What were Mr. Gottlieb's instructions, or
22 what was his mission at that time?

23 Mr. Bissell. I do not know. I can draw inferences from
24 the circumstances that have already been mentioned.

25 Mr. Wides. In the course of his duties as your science

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

310 East Street S.E. Washington D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

19

adviser, did he take frequent trips abroad?

Mr. Bissell. I would say infrequent. It seemed to me there were one or two others.

4 Mr. Wides. Would these trips be involved with
5 highly sensitive operations as distinct from scientific
evaluation?

7 Mr. Bissell. I believe that for the most part they
8 would not have been involved with highly sensitive specific
9 operations, but rather would have involved consultation with
10 people in the field on the effectiveness of devices, tech-
11 niques, procedures, underdevelopment in the Technical
Services Division.

13 Mr. Wides. And given the unusual of his going to the
14 Congo if he did in connection with clandestine operations
there, you would have no recollection of that today?

Mr. Bissell. I don't have any recollection of that
today, no. This is the first time I realized, since many
years ago, that he had made such a trip.

19 Mr. Baron. Would he also have been aware that he had made such a trip?

21 Mr. Bissell. Well, the Chief of Station obviously,
22 Bronson Tweedy, obviously. Quite probably the Director,
23 but not certainly. And several others. I assume that Mr.
24 Helms would have known about it at the time, because there
would have been some kind of cable traffic, and I strongly

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

20

1 suspect that Cornelius Roosevelt would have known
2 about it.

3 Mr. Baron. Did Mr. Gottlieb's trip have anything to do
4 with the assassination of Lumumba?

5 Mr. Bissell. I don't know, since I don't remember the
6 circumstances, I really can't say.

7 Mr. Baron. Would you assume that Mr. Gottlieb's trip
8 have had something to do with the assassination of Lumumba?

9 Mr. Bissell. I think it might very well.

10 Mr. Baron. And again we are talking about the plot
11 to assassinate Lumumba rather than Lumumba's ultimate demise?

12 Mr. Bissell. Correct.

13 Mr. Baron. If Mr. Gottlieb's visit related to the plot
14 to assassinate Lumumba, would such a sensitive operation
15 have been made known to Bronson Tweedy?

16 Mr. Bissell. I believe so, specially in the light
17 of the fact that apparently this possibility had been dis-
18 cussed with Bronson Tweedy more than once.

19 Mr. Baron. Is it possible that Bronson Tweedy would
20 have been cut out of the actual mounting of an assassination
21 operation despite the fact that the feasibility of an
22 assassination had been discussed with him?

23 Mr. Bissell. Yes, it is possible.

24 Mr. Baron. Was that the case?

25 Mr. Bissell. I don't remember. But if you ask me to

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 0 0 0 2 0 8 3 6

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

21

1 guess, I think I would -- I think my guessing would come down
2 slightly on the side of his having been cut out rather than
3 knowledgeable.

4 Mr. Baron. Why would that be?

5 Mr. Bissell. Well, I repeat, I am guessing about this,
6 and the reasoning that leads me to make that remark is that
7 my recollection is that my assignment to O'Donnell was very
8 narrowly held. And I do not remember discussing that assign-
9 ment with Bronson Tweedy. And so I think there is a real
10 possibility -- and it is a guess, trying as best I can to recon-
11 struct what was going on at the time, but not based on any
12 recollection of actual discussions -- but my guess, as I say,
13 would come down very slightly on the side that O'Donnell's
14 assignment was not known to Bronston Tweedy, and that he, there-
15 fore, was cut out of this phase.

16 Mr. Baron. And would have been cut out of knowledge
17 of Gottlieb's visit to the Congo?

18 Mr. Bissell. Could have been, although that is
19 more unlikely. It seems to me that if he was being cut out
20 of knowledge of the specific operation, that he would have
21 had to be knowledgeable of the visit, and would have been
22 given an explanation of the visit other than the postulated
23 true explanation.

24 Mr. Baron. In the light of that, Mr. Bissell, is it
25 likely that the cable traffic that Mr. Tweedy describes going

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

22

1 back and forth between himself and the Chief of Station
2 in the Congo concerning gaining access to Lumumba could have
3 unbeknownst to him related to gaining access to Lumumba for
4 the purpose of an assassination plot that was further along
5 the line than Mr. Tweedy knew?

6 Mr. Bissell. It could have. I would put it another
7 way. It seems to me that the information gleaned in that
8 interchange was probably an input to the planning -- the prep-
9 atory activity that identify with O'Donnell.

10 Mr. Baron. To repeat for a moment, Gottlieb's
11 visit to the Congo would have been known to the Chief of Sta-
12 tion, yourself and Director of Central Intelligence, and
13 possibly Bronson Tweedy?

14 Mr. Bissell. I think probably Bronson Tweedy, and
15 almost certainly a few other people. I repeat, I think
16 Cornelius Roosevelt would have known of it. I think Richard
17 Helms would have known of it, and I think several others.
18 I am making a distinction between those who would have known
19 of the visit, an event that would not be easy to keep secret
20 from a number of people in the Agency, and knowledge of the
21 true purpose of that visit, if indeed its true purpose were,
22 as was suggested.

23 Mr. Baron. Did you have any discussion with Richard
24 Helms about the assassination of Lumumba?

25 Mr. Bissell. I don't remember -- wait a minute. No,

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

23

1 I believe I did not with Mr. Helms.

2 Mr. Baron. You paused for a moment there. Was there
3 some discussion that you were thinking about that could have
4 related to Lumumba?

5 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

6 I think what came into my mind was a later and
7 subsequent conversation with Mr. Helms sometime after.
8 And this had to do with O'Donnell, and I seem to remember
9 Mr. Helms making a remark that he was a somewhat -- on
10 occasion a somewhat unsable person. And at that point the sub-
11 ject may have come up with Mr. Helms. But my impression is
12 that any such conversation with Mr. Helms was a good deal
13 later.

14 Mr. Wides. Mr. O'Donnell indicated that after he spoke
15 to you and told you that he would not participate in the
16 assassination effort, that he went essentially nextdoor to
17 your office, to Mr. Helms' office, and recounted his dis-
18 cussion with you to Mr. Helms.

19 Do you recall any discussion about that time that
20 Helms might have come back to you to find out about?

21 Mr. Bissell. Let me explain, the dim recollection
22 that I have just voiced of a conversation with Helms after
23 the termination of O'Donnell's assignment, and Helms comment
24 on it. But I still believe that Mr. Helms did not know of
25 this until after what I would refer to as the termination of

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

24

O'Donnell's involvement, which was the occasion you have just referred to.

Mr. Wides. It was not described by Mr. O'Donnell as the termination of an assignment.

Mr. Bissell. All right, that is my phrase, but as I have already testified, my recollection -- and it is recollection -- is that Mr. O'Donnell came in to me -- I thought it was a matter probably of at least several weeks, but I could be wrong on the timing -- after I had originally given him the assignment, and expressed both his personal reluctance to attempt to carry it out, and his belief that it was the wrong way to proceed. Whether he so stated to Mr. O'Donnell, it certainly was my decision at that time that it be dropped. And to the best of my knowledge and belief, no further action was taken.

Mr. Schwarz. By "it" in that example do you mean the assassination of Lumumba, or O'Donnell's involvement in the assassination of Lumumba?

Mr. Bissell. At any rate, O'Donnell's involvement, the project that he had been asked to plan and prepare for, that that would not be continued.

Mr. Baron. And that was the assassination of Lumumba?

Mr. Bissell. Yes.

Mr. Schwarz. You mean one officer comes in and gives you a negative, and then you decided to turn off something

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

25

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street S.E. Washington, D.C. 20003

110 3 01f

◆

TOP SECRET

144

26

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36
37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
60
61
62
63
64
65
66
67
68
69
70
71
72
73
74
75
76
77
78
79
80
81
82
83
84
85
86
87
88
89
90
91
92
93
94
95
96
97
98
99
100
101
102
103
104
105
106
107
108
109
110
111
112
113
114
115
116
117
118
119
120
121
122
123
124
125
126
127
128
129
130
131
132
133
134
135
136
137
138
139
140
141
142
143
144
145
146
147
148
149
150
151
152
153
154
155
156
157
158
159
160
161
162
163
164
165
166
167
168
169
170
171
172
173
174
175
176
177
178
179
180
181
182
183
184
185
186
187
188
189
190
191
192
193
194
195
196
197
198
199
200
201
202
203
204
205
206
207
208
209
210
211
212
213
214
215
216
217
218
219
220
221
222
223
224
225
226
227
228
229
230
231
232
233
234
235
236
237
238
239
240
241
242
243
244
245
246
247
248
249
250
251
252
253
254
255
256
257
258
259
260
261
262
263
264
265
266
267
268
269
270
271
272
273
274
275
276
277
278
279
280
281
282
283
284
285
286
287
288
289
290
291
292
293
294
295
296
297
298
299
300
301
302
303
304
305
306
307
308
309
310
311
312
313
314
315
316
317
318
319
320
321
322
323
324
325
326
327
328
329
330
331
332
333
334
335
336
337
338
339
340
341
342
343
344
345
346
347
348
349
350
351
352
353
354
355
356
357
358
359
360
361
362
363
364
365
366
367
368
369
370
371
372
373
374
375
376
377
378
379
380
381
382
383
384
385
386
387
388
389
390
391
392
393
394
395
396
397
398
399
400
401
402
403
404
405
406
407
408
409
410
411
412
413
414
415
416
417
418
419
420
421
422
423
424
425
426
427
428
429
430
431
432
433
434
435
436
437
438
439
440
441
442
443
444
445
446
447
448
449
450
451
452
453
454
455
456
457
458
459
460
461
462
463
464
465
466
467
468
469
470
471
472
473
474
475
476
477
478
479
480
481
482
483
484
485
486
487
488
489
490
491
492
493
494
495
496
497
498
499
500
501
502
503
504
505
506
507
508
509
510
511
512
513
514
515
516
517
518
519
520
521
522
523
524
525
526
527
528
529
530
531
532
533
534
535
536
537
538
539
540
541
542
543
544
545
546
547
548
549
550
551
552
553
554
555
556
557
558
559
560
561
562
563
564
565
566
567
568
569
570
571
572
573
574
575
576
577
578
579
580
581
582
583
584
585
586
587
588
589
590
591
592
593
594
595
596
597
598
599
600
601
602
603
604
605
606
607
608
609
610
611
612
613
614
615
616
617
618
619
620
621
622
623
624
625
626
627
628
629
630
631
632
633
634
635
636
637
638
639
640
641
642
643
644
645
646
647
648
649
650
651
652
653
654
655
656
657
658
659
660
661
662
663
664
665
666
667
668
669
670
671
672
673
674
675
676
677
678
679
680
681
682
683
684
685
686
687
688
689
690
691
692
693
694
695
696
697
698
699
700
701
702
703
704
705
706
707
708
709
710
711
712
713
714
715
716
717
718
719
720
721
722
723
724
725
726
727
728
729
730
731
732
733
734
735
736
737
738
739
740
741
742
743
744
745
746
747
748
749
750
751
752
753
754
755
756
757
758
759
760
761
762
763
764
765
766
767
768
769
770
771
772
773
774
775
776
777
778
779
780
781
782
783
784
785
786
787
788
789
790
791
792
793
794
795
796
797
798
799
800
801
802
803
804
805
806
807
808
809
810
811
812
813
814
815
816
817
818
819
820
821
822
823
824
825
826
827
828
829
830
831
832
833
834
835
836
837
838
839
840
84

4

1

•

8

10

1
1
1
1
1
1
1

2

2

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

110 First Street S.E. Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

27

1 "In high quarters here it is the clearcut conclusion
2 that if LLL continues to hold high office inevitable result
3 will be chaos".

4 And then it goes on and says:

5 "Consequently we conclude that his removal must be an
6 urgent prime objective and that under existing conditions
7 this could be a high priority covert action".

8 That is dated August 26, 1960, signed, according to your
9 identification of his signature, by Mr. Dulles personally.
10 And it follows by one day a meeting in the White House of the
11 Special Group attended by the President of the U.S., where
12 Dulles said he would proceed --

13 Mr. Baron. I don't think this meeting was attended by
14 the President.

15 Mr. diGenova. Excuse me, attended by Mr. Dulles --
16 where he said he would proceed as vigorously as the situation
17 permitted. And it was agreed that the planning for the
18 Congo would not necessarily rule out consideration of any
19 particular kind of activity which might contribute to getting
20 rid of Lumumba.

21 Does that in any way refresh your recollection about
22 what was happening at that time?

23 Do you remember anything independently of what Mr.
24 Dulles was talking to you about? We had trouble areas in the
25 world, including Cuba, and the African Continent in particular.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

28

1 Does that refresh your recollection in any way
2 independently?

3 Mr. Bissell. Well, my recollection, I think, is
4 pretty clear about the atmosphere at the time. And I think
5 it is quite eloquently described in the cable which you
6 have just quoted. And I have already said that I think
7 probably, from the evidence of the format of that document,
8 I was absent from Washington at the time when it was sent.
9 But I certainly would have seen that when I returned, and
10 it certainly would have been the subject of conversation
11 between Dulles and myself. It is for that reason that I
12 draw the inference that Justin O'Donnell's assignment would
13 have been reported by me to Allen Dulles.

14 Mr. diGenova. But you personally don't remember
15 discussing this with Mr. Dulles?

16 Mr. Bissell. No.

17 Mr. diGenova. You conclude now that you must have be-
18 cause of the physical evidence?

19 Mr. Bissell. Could I just interrupt for a moment to
20 say, I used to see Mr. Dulles almost daily during these years.
21 It was rare that we would meet without touching on perhaps
22 several on-going operations or plans or prospects. And this,
23 over a period of several years. It is not, I think surpris-
24 ing that rarely have I been able in the course of my testi-
25 mony to say, I specifically remember a particular meeting, and

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

29

1 even roughly what was said of it.

2 Mr. diGenova. Mr. Bissell, that is somewhat important,
3 obviously, because the idea is to try, if possible, to estab-
4 lish what the precise facts were.

5 Now, I am sure you don't mean to say that the assassina-
6 tion of a foreign leader blurs into the everyday activity of
7 the Agency because it was so commonplace -- or is that what
8 you mean to say?

9 Mr. Bissell. No, I don't. But I do mean to say
10 that the Agency had put a top priority, probably, on a range
11 of different methods of getting rid of Lumumba in the sense
12 of either destroying him physically, incapacitating him, or
13 eliminating his political influence. And a conversation
14 about this particular facet of what was a many-sided attack on
15 the problem doesn't stand out in my mind.

16 Mr. diGenova. What you are saying, then, is the de-
17 tails of any specific day or meeting or cable you don't
18 recollect, but you don't have any trouble recollecting the
19 fact that the assassination of Lumumba, among others,
20 was part of a strategy at that time, if needed?

21 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

22 Mr. Baron. And that was part of a strategy at the
23 level of the National Security Council as well as within the
24 Agency?

25 Mr. Bissell. I believe that the language quoted would

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

310 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

30

- 1
- 2
- 3
- 4
- 5
- 6
- 7
- 8
- 9
- 10
- 11
- 12
- 13
- 14
- 15
- 16
- 17
- 18
- 19
- 20
- 21
- 22
- 23
- 24
- 25

25

4
5
6
7
8
9

10
11
12

13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23

2-
21

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 5 4 3 2 1

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

31

1 Mr. Bissell. Correct.

2 Mr. Baron. "Mr. Gray commented that his associates
3 had expressed extremely strong feelings on the necessity for
4 very straightforward action in this situation, and he wondered
5 whether the plans as outlined were sufficient to accomplish
6 this.

7 "Mr. Dulles replied that he had taken the comments re-
8 ferred to seriously, and had every intention of proceeding as
9 vigorously as the situation permits or requires, but added that
10 he must necessarily put himself in a position of interpret-
11 ing instructions of this kind within the bounds of necessity
12 and capability. It was finally agreed that planning for the
13 Congo would not necessarily rule out 'consideration' of any
14 particular kind of activity which might contribute to
15 getting rid of Lumumba".

16 Then the next day after this meeting Mr. Dulles
17 sends out the telegram or the cable that we have already
18 discussed.

19 Mr. Bissell. Right.

20 Mr. Baron. Would you assume that Mr. Dulles' cable,
21 which was sent to Leopoldville, was a direct outgrowth of
22 this meeting that he had attended the previous day?

23 Mr. Bissell. Obviously, sir.

24 Mr. Dawson. Do you know?

25 Mr. Bissell. I think there is no question on the

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

32

1 basis of the documents.

2 Mr. Baron. Do you assume that assassination was one
3 of the means of removing Lumumba from the scene that is
4 contemplated within the language of Mr. Dulles' cable?

5 Mr. Bissell. Correct -- and also the language reported
6 in the minutes of the Special Group.

7 Mr. Baron. And that would be in essence language--

8 Mr. Bissell. Could I just interrupt to say in
9 elaboration of that point, you may remember that I perhaps un-
10 fortunately used the word "circumlocutious" in earlier testimony
11 to describe the way this kind of topic was discussed. This
12 is a prime example of it. When you use the language that
13 no particular means were ruled out, that is obviously what it
14 meant, and it meant that to everybody in the room.

15 Mr. Wides. Meant what?

16 Mr. Bissell. Meant that if it had to be assassination,
17 that that was a permissible means.

18 Mr. Baron. And that this was permissible in the eyes
19 of the President, whose sentiments -- who was being repre-
20 sented at the meeting by Gordon Gray?

21 Mr. Bissell. At least permissible by his representatives
22 sitting in the room. You don't use language of that kind
23 except to mean in effect, the Director is being told, get
24 rid of the guy, and if you have to use extreme means up
25 to and including assassination, go ahead.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

33

1 Mr. Baron. And in effect the Director is being told
2 that by the President?

3 Mr. Bissell. Right.

4 Mr. Baron. Through his representative?

5 Mr. Bissell. Right.

6 Mr. Schwarz. Did Mr. Dulles tell you that President
7 Eisenhower wanted Lumumba killed?

8 Mr. Bissell. I am sure he didn't.

9 Mr. Smothers. Did he ever tell you even circum-
10 locutiously through this kind of cable?

11 Mr. Bissell. Yes, I think his cable says it in effect.

12 Mr. Smothers. Was this a thing that was clearly under-
13 stood here by everyone? What was that in your experience with
14 the Agency that had prepared you to understand this kind of
15 coded dialogue, if you will? Was assassination something
16 that was discussed fairly often?

17 Mr. Bissell. No, I would say really very infrequently,
18 very infrequently even discussed, let alone attempted.
19 But I submit that the language just quoted from the minutes
20 of the Special Group was not language internal to the Agency,
21 it was language from a Cabinet level committee.

22 You may remember another document that was offered earlier
23 in my testimony which was again minutes of a Special Group
24 meeting, and it quoted Livingston Merchant, the State Depart-
25 ment representative, again asking if there was no way to get

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

310 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

34

1 rid of the Castro leadership in that case. I am sure you
2 remember that document.

3 Now, when senior political officers meet in a Cabinet
4 Committee, especially when some kind of a record is being
5 kept, they do talk around a subject of that kind. But it
6 doesn't mean that it is obscure or not understood by anyone
7 there. I believe in both of these cases it is perfectly
8 clear -- in the first Livingston Merchant case it is clear that
9 he was raising a question as to whether physically getting
10 rid of these people was possible, and in the second case, the
11 one just quoted here, it seems to me that -- if you like to
12 call it that -- the consensus of the Special Group was that
13 "no means should be excluded in the effort to get rid of
14 Lumumba".

15 And that, I repeat, is not CIA language. If it is
16 gobbledegook it is on a good high level.

17 Mr. Dawson. Is Mr. Gray in this cable or memorandum
18 for the Special Group on August 25, 1960, conveying the feeling
19 of his associate, which we have identified clearly as
20 President Eisenhower?

21 Mr. Baron. Moving back now to the testimony of the
22 Chief of Station who was in Leopoldville in 1960, he said
23 that shortly after he received this cable that a messenger
24 would come whom he would recognize and who would give him
25 instructions to carry out. He received a visit from Mr.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 0 0 9 2 0 8 3 9

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

35

1 Gottlieb. And we have discussed that visit. He then goes
2 on to testify that Dr. Gottlieb gave to him, or told him that
3 he would very shortly thereafter receive, some lethal biological
4 substances, and the tools for administering those sub-
5 stances, namely, a syringe, gauze masks, and rubber gloves.
6 Were such lethal biological substances sent down to the
7 Congo?

8 Mr. Bissell. I don't know. I assume the record shows
9 one way or the other. I don't have a recollection of that.
10 I was really rather surprised on the occasion of
11 the earlier testimony to have it reported that they had been
12 sent.

13 Mr. Baron. Would you assume now, hearing this testimony,
14 that indeed such substances were sent to the Congo?

15 Mr. Bissell. I think what you have told me, repeating
16 the evidence of the Station Chief, that Dr. Gottlieb told
17 him to expect that, is that correct?

18 Mr. Wides. The testimony is that the materials were
19 brought by Dr. Gottlieb or essentially arrived while he was
20 there, and that he went over their use with the Station Chief.
21 That doesn't refresh your recollection at all with regard --

22 Mr. Bissell. No, it doesn't. But I am sure if the
23 Station Chief so testified it is correct, there is nothing
24 in mind that I remember that would be in conflict with that.

25 Mr. Baron. It would not have been against the policy

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

110 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

36

1 at that point for the AGENCY to have proceeded to the point
2 of sending poison to the Congo?

3 Mr. Bissell. No, it would not.

4 Mr. Wides. You draw a distinction before between what
5 you called the planning stage and the implementing stage. I
6 take it it was not common to send lethal means by the use of
7 such a highly unusual messenger to a foreign country and
8 turn them over to a Station Chief as distinct from experi-
9 menting in the laboratory in Washington?

10 Mr. Bissell. The phrase I used, or tried to use,
11 most of the time was the phrase of planning and preparation
12 versus the phrase of implementation.

13 Mr. Wides. By implementation do you mean simply the
14 actual commencement of --

15 Mr. Bissell. Of an active assassination, yes.

16 To answer your first question as directly as I can,
17 it was the practice, if I remember correctly, that devices
18 or agents, biological agents, or other things of this sort,
19 that some stocks of these were kept in certain major stations
20 overseas. I would be very surprised if that were not the
21 case, and had not earlier been the case in the [redacted] station
22 at [redacted] 15-70 and in the [redacted] Tokyo stations, because these were
23 big organizations.

24 Mr. Wides. These were lethal biological agents?

25 Mr. Bissell. I suspect, yes.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

37

1 Mr. Dawson. And the purpose for these stockpiles would
2 have been --

3 Mr. Bissell. In case there was a sudden need for their
4 use, so that there would not be a logistic problem.

5 Mr. Dawson. To use for what? To kill people?

6 Mr. Bissell. I suppose so, if they were truly lethal
7 agents.

8 Mr. Wides. You say you suspect so.

9 Do you have any recollection that you were at the time
10 aware of such stockpiles abroad?

11 Mr. Bissell. If there were I am sure I was aware of
12 it, and I seem to remember that in the two biggest overseas
13 stations there were one or two or three staff members who in
14 effect represented the Technical Services Division.
15 I could be wrong on this, but that, for what it is worth, is
16 my recollection of the organizational pattern.

17 Now, to come back to your question again, however, it would
18 indeed have been rather unusual to send such materials --
19 a specific kit, if you like, of this sort -- out to a rela-
20 tively small station, unless planning for their use were
21 quite far along.

22 Mr. Wides. Is it fair to say, then, that your
23 dichotomy between planning and your use of the term imple-
24 mentation would mean that if -- let us take a different
25 example -- a sniper rifle and special bullets were sent

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

310 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

38

1 to the city where they were to be used, and there was re-
2 connaissance, and every step necessary to actually carry out
3 the execution, that the implementation as far as your use
4 of the material would not start until someone actually picked
5 up the rifle and pointed it at him?

6 Mr. Bissell. Let me try to sharpen it by reference,
7 if my memory serves, to the Dominican Republic. It is there,
8 if I remember, that submachine guns were sent down to the
9 Station by CIA. The State Department never authorized the
10 release of those to the anti-Trujillo plotters. And I
11 believe they never were released.

12 Now, in that case, to take that example, I would say
13 that implementation would have started at the moment that you
14 turned those over and they passed out of our control. I
15 would say that as long as any weapon of any kind remained
16 securely within the Agency's control, that you were still
17 short of what I would call --

18 Mr. Schwarz. Doesn't that turn on the nature
19 of the order to the Agency personnel who has them?

20 Mr. Bissell. It does, right.

21 Mr. Schwarz. In the Lumumba case, was the AGENCY
22 person who had the lethal agents authorized to use them to
23 kill Lumumba?

24 Mr. Bissell. To that question I do not know the answer.
25 Clearly the Station Chief had been not only authorized but

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

310 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

39

1 encouraged, as we have developed -- as you have developed --
2 in this testimony to seek out individuals who might have
3 close access to Lumumba for the purpose of hostile action
4 against him. Clearly the Station Chief was then sent, or
5 a kit was then brought out to him and put in his possession,
6 presumably so that if and when an individual with suitable
7 access and other appropriate circumstances materialized and
8 authorization was given, if it was still required, the
9 operation could proceed.

10 Mr. Baron. Let me see if I can refresh your recollec-
11 tion on that one point, whether authorization had been given.
12 The Chief of Station testified that when Sidney Gottlieb
13 gave him poison or instructions in the use of poison, he
14 also made it very clear that these were for the purpose of
15 assassinating Lumumba, and that he should proceed to carry
16 out the assassination of Lumumba if it were possible, that the
17 use of poison was not a sine qua non to the assassination,
18 if he could find another way to do it, that would be fine,
19 but that it was clear that he was to proceed with an assassin-
20 ation operation if he could find a way to do it successfully.

21 Mr. Bissell. Accepting that testimony, then, the
22 authorization was given.

23 Mr. Schwarz. -But we are dealing with your testimony,
24 Mr. Bissell. WE have his testimony, and your comments on his
25 testimony doesn't add much to the record.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 0 0 0 1 5

WARD & PAUL

310 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

40

1 Mr. Bissell. No.

2 Mr. Schwarz. Did you or anybody else, as far as you
3 know, authorize him to do the act?

4 Do you recall any fact which bears upon that? Or is
5 your mind ablank on that subject?

6 Mr. Bissell. I am afraid, as far as recollection is
7 concerned, that my mind is a blank on that subject. I know
8 the Committee doesn't find inference particularly helpful,
9 but I would strongly infer in this case that such an author-
10 ization did pass through me, as it were, if Sid Gottlieb
11 gave that firm instruction to the Station Chief.

12 Mr. Baron. You say passed through you. From what
13 source would it have passed?

14 Mr. Bissell. From the Director. As I would recon-
15 struct the sequence of events, the Director, after the meet-
16 ing and the cable in late August, made it clear that this was
17 to go forward -- to me that this was to go forward if and
18 when feasible circumstances permitted it, and it was on that
19 basis that I would have authorized Gottlieb to deliver by
20 word of mouth such instructions from the Station Chief.
21 That is a highly unusual procedure, even in a sensitive
22 matter of this sort.

23 Mr. Schwarz. What is unusual about it?

24 Mr. Bissell. That the authorization should have been
25 by word of mouth rather than by cable. I don't mean a cable

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

41

1 setting it forth in as many words, with you this would have
2 been identified with a project name by this time, and it is
3 most unusual that even with a highly sensitive project that
4 the nature is known to very few, probably only to the Station
5 Chief itself.

6 What I would have expected is an authorizing cable saying,
7 implement project such and such.

8 Mr. Schwarz. But in the normal course of CIA
9 assassination activity, if I may use that term --

10 Mr. Bissell. In the abnormal course.

11 Mr. Schwarz. -- you would have been instructed by
12 Mr. Dulles to do something?

13 Mr. Bissell. Instructed or authorized.

14 Mr. Schwarz. And then you would have spoken to or
15 cabled some other officer?

16 Mr. Bissell. Correct. And knowing Mr. Gottlieb,
17 it is literally inconceivable to me that he would have acted
18 beyond his instructions.

19 Mr. Baron. The Chief of Station, to be fair to his
20 testimony, indicated that he was greatly surprised when he
21 received such instructions, and he was doubtful about the
22 practicality of pulling off such an operation, at the
23 least he was convinced it would be difficult. But he did
24 say -- he added that as a fairly junior Chief of Station he
25 might have checked back before he could have mounted such an

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

42

1 operation. But he added that he believed the assassination
2 was expected of him, and he left Mr. Gottlieb with the im-
3 pression that he would proceed to try to perform such a mission.

4 Mr. Wides. He also cabled.

5 Mr. Baron. Now, the next step that the Chief of
6 Station took after Mr. Gottlieb departed from the Congo,
7 according to his testimony, was to cable to headquarters
8 for confirmation of such an extraordinary mission.

9 Did you receive such a cable from Leopoldville?

10 Mr. Bissell. The record would have to show that. I
11 don't remember it.

12 Mr. Baron. The Chief of Station also testified that
13 he shortly thereafter received confirmation back in cryptic
14 fashion to the effect that he was to proceed with the in-
15 structions to carry out the instructions he had been given.

16 Did you sent such confirmation to him?

17 Mr. Bissell. I assume so, if the cable went out.

18 Mr. Baron. And that confirmation would have come
19 from yourself directly as opposed to Bronson Tweedy or anyone
20 else in the African Division?

21 Mr. Bissell. Probably.

22 But again, if you have that cable, the initials would
23 show who signed off on it, and so on.

24 Mr. Schwarz. These cables have not been found.

25 Mr. diGenova. The Committee is making an effort to find

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

43

1 them, and the AGENCY has not been able to produce them yet.

2 Mr. Bissell. If it is any help for me to say, this
3 sounds highly likely as an account if it is established, as
4 evidence seems to have established, that Dr. Gottlieb brought
5 such instructions, I would expect the Station to seek con-
6 firmation. And I would expect, given the background, that
7 that confirmation would have been forthcoming. And I would
8 also be almost certain that I would have signed off on such
9 a cable, or signed such a cable, initialled it, even if it
10 had been going to Mr. Dulles for final approval.

11 Mr. Baron. These events occurred in early September,
12 which was prior to your conversations with Justin O'Donnell
13 about the assassination of Lumumba?

14 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

15 Mr. Baron. So at that point an assassination mission
16 had in effect been mounted in the Congo?

17 Mr. Bissell. Right.

18 Mr. Baron. After you spoke with Justin O'Donnell,
19 did you send a cable to Leopoldville to stand down the
20 assassination mission?

21 Mr. Bissell. Again, I would have to go back to the
22 record.

23 Mr. Wides. Was it your testimony earlier that you
24 have no recollection of discussing with Mr. Gottlieb the
25 possible assassination of Lumumba?

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

44

1 Mr. Bissell. I thought I testified earlier this
2 afternoon that I might well have discussed it with him, but
3 I don't have a specific recollection.

4 Mr. Wides. Let me read you an excerpt from your testi-
5 mony on June 11, where Mr. Schwarz was asking you about your
6 conversation with Mr. O'Donnell, and your request that he
7 investigate, in your words, the possibility of assassinating
8 Lumumba. And then on page 54 -- we should mark this --

9 Mr. Schwarz. Just read it in.

10 Mr. Wides. "Did you tell him this in connection with
11 making plans to go see the passer of the poison, Mr. Gottlieb?"

12 "Mr. Bissell. I think I probably did."

13 Was that a recollection at that time that you had
14 sent O'Donnell to see Dr. Gottlieb?

15 Mr. Bissell. No, I think that comes in the category
16 of inference rather than recollection, because I don't re-
17 member specifically telling Dr. Gottlieb.

18 Mr. Wides. Or speaking to Dr. Gottlieb, explaining
19 the possible means to O'Donnell?

20 Mr. Bissell. I don't recollect it.

21 Mr. Baron. In the testimony of the Chief of Station
22 in Leopoldville he said that during his visit with Dr.
23 Gottlieb, as I have related, he was extremely surprised when
24 he received these instructions. And the instructions were
25 so specific that he wanted to be very sure that the authoriza-

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

45

1 tion for this mission was equally as specific. And he probed
2 Dr. Gottlieb on the source of the authorization, and said --
3 something to the effect, who authorized this mission.

4 The answer was, it came from the top, or something to
5 that effect.

6 And then the Chief of Station pushed on to pin it down.
7 And the response he got from Dr. Gottlieb was, something to
8 the effect that --

9 Mr. Schwarz. Will you read the exact answer?

10 Mr. Baron. I will read you from Mr. Hedgman's testi-
11 mony. At page 30, quoting from the testimony of the Chief
12 of Station in the Congo at that point, testifying under the
13 alias of Hedgman, the Chief of Station said:

14 "In essence I must have -- and again I am guessing
15 as to what my wording was -- must have pointed out that this
16 was not a common or usual Agency tactic, and I may have
17 probably said that I had never heard of it being done -- which
18 I had not, never in my training or previous work in the
19 Agency had I ever heard any reference to such, in my recollec-
20 tion at least, such methods. And it is my recollection, I
21 asked on whose authority these instructions were issued.

22 "Mr. Wides. And what did Mr. Gottlieb reply?

23 "Mr. Hedgman. It is my recollection that he identified
24 the President -- and I cannot -- the President of the U.S. --
25 and I cannot recall whether he said the President or whether

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

46

1 he identified him by name".

2 Then the testimony proceeds to the bottom of page 31:

3 "Mr. Wides. Can you recall whether he said 'the Presi-
4 dent' or 'President Eisenhower'?

5 "Mr. Hedgman. I cannot recall whether he just said --
6 whether he said the President or whether he said President
7 Eisenhower.

8 "Mr. Wides. But it was one of those two, is your
9 best recollection?

10 "Mr. Hedgman. I would say almost certainly".

11 Further down the page Mr. Hedgman continues:

12 "I have tried to go back in my mind on that, and I
13 think, I believe -- but again now this one is pretty loose in
14 my mind -- it was something to the effect that the President
15 had instructed the Director".

16 And then on page 33 Mr. Dawson says:

17 "You are not the least unclear whether or not you
18 came away with a very clear impression that the President's
19 name had been invoked in some fashion?

20 "Mr. Hedgman. Yes, I came -- certainly that is my
21 recollection".

22 Did Mr. Gottlieb make you aware at this point that he
23 had made such a representation to the Chief of Station?

24 Mr. Bissell. I have no such recollection.

25 Mr. Baron. Was Mr. Gottlieb authorized to make such

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

310 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

47

1 a representation that the President of the U.S. had authorized
2 the assassination of Lumumba?

3 Mr. Bissell. I can't answer that question. But what
4 probably occurred was --

5 Mr. Dawson. Wait a minute. Let's not do it that way.

6 Is there any doubt that you would have undertaken --
7 assuming that you did so instruct Mr. Gottlieb to carry this
8 poison into the Congo -- that you would have done this with-
9 out Mr. Dulles' authority?

10 Mr. Bissell. There was no possibility.

11 Mr. Dawson. Is there any doubt in your mind that you
12 would have then assumed that Dulles had received the
13 President's okay to do so?

14 Mr. Bissell. Well, I might well have believed that the
15 Director was proceeding under the mandate of the Special
16 Group as reported in the minutes of the meeting.

17 Mr. Schwarz. Did you tell Gottlieb anything about
18 President Eisenhower?

19 Mr. Bissell. I probably did, but I don't remember.

20 Mr. Schwarz. Did Dulles tell you anything about
21 President Eisenhower?

22 Mr. Bissell. He almost certainly would have told
23 me a good deal about that meeting.

24 Mr. Schwarz. By that meeting --

25 Mr. Bissell. The Special Group meeting.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

48

1 I think it is probably unlikely that Allen Dulles would have
2 said either the President or President Eisenhower even to me.
3 I think he would have said, this is authorized in the highest
4 quarters, and I would have known what he meant.

5 Mr. Baron. And you have communicated that to Mr.
6 Gottlieb?

7 Mr. Bissell. I could very easily.

8 Mr. Schwarz. Is all of that line that we have just
9 went through could and would and might, and inference, or
10 is any of that recollection?

11 Mr. Bissell. I am afraid it has to be described as
12 inference.

13 Mr. diGenova. But you didn't make up the minutes of
14 the Special Group meeting on August 25 and you didn't make up
15 the cable which Mr. Dulles signed either, did you?

16 Mr. Bissell. No.

17 Mr. diGenova. So that was actually sent out, wasn't
18 it?

19 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

20 Mr. diGenova. And Mr. Dulles wasn't one who used
21 highest quarters, was he?

22 Mr. Bissell. Yes -- and also the minutes of the
23 Special Group referred to Mr. Gray's associate.

24 Mr. Wides. And your testimony a moment ago in response
25 to Mr. dawson's question was, even though this fell within

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 0 0 7 1 2 0 8 3 4

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

49

1 what you regarded as the planning stage, this meaning if it
2 occurred, Dr. Gottlieb taking the poison to the Congo, that
3 you would not have taken that step without the approval of
4 the Director, was that your testimony?

5 Mr. Bissell. What I will now say at any rate is that
6 the mere act of taking the kit to the Congo I would classify
7 as still in the planning stage. But if it be taken as es-
8 tablished that Mr. Gottlieb took specific instructions "to
9 implement", I would say that we had then passed into an im-
10 plementation phase.

11 Mr. Wides. Let me read to you from your testimony on
12 June 11, and then ask you a question based on that.

13 On page 54 Mr. Schwarz said:

14 "Who authorized you to tell Mr. O'Donnell to take steps
15 to move toward assassinating Mr. Lumumba?"

16 And you said: "No one".

17 And then Mr. Schwarz:

18 "Did you inform the White House of that?"

19 "No."

20 "To the best of your knowledge did anybody inform the
21 White House of that?"

22 "Mr. Bissell. To the best of my knowledge, no.

23 "Mr. Schwarz. Why did you seek to assassinate Mr.
24 Lumumba?

25 "Mr. Bissell. I didn't seek to assassinate him. I

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

50

1 told the members of the clandestine service to make plans
2 and develop the capability so to do if it were approved and
3 ordered."

4 Now, in regard to your answer that no one had told you
5 to tell Mr. O'Donnell to take steps to move toward assassinat-
6 ing Mr. Lumumba, I take it that reading that now in the
7 context of other information we have, that answer was not
8 intended to mean that -- page 54 -- you were not then testi-
9 fying affirmatively that no one had spoken to you at a higher
10 level about trying to assassinate Lumumba, but merely in
11 regard to your discussion with O'Donnell, which you did recall?

12 Mr. Bissell. My recollection -- and this I will des-
13 cribe as a recollection, it may be faulty -- is that it was
14 my own idea to give O'Donnell this assignment. He had, I
15 believe, recently completed some other, or there was a change
16 of position of some kind, and he was available. And given
17 the background which has here been established this afternoon,
18 I believe it was my notion to give him this assignment in
19 parallel to any other things that were still going forward.

20 It would have been unusual to have advised anybody
21 outside the Agency of a specific assignment to an individual
22 of that sort.

23 Mr. Wides. And the implication of the lack of authori-
24 zation from above yourself, or discussion with anyone above
25 yourself, was confined simply to the giving of the assignment

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

51

1 to Mr. O'Donnell?

2 Mr. Bissell. That is correct.

3 And it is my recollection, as I have testified in
4 part earlier this afternoon, that when O'Donnell came later
5 and declined the assignment and expressed the view that this
6 was not the way to solve the problem, that I shut off the
7 O'Donnell operation completely.

8 Mr. Wides. Let me go back to that if I can. Mr.
9 O'Donnell's testimony, which I believe we went over with you
10 when you testified, we might ask you to see now if you have
11 any different recollection.

12 In essence it is the following: that you called
13 him in and asked him to go to the Congo for the purposes
14 of trying to see if Lumumba could be assassinated, that
15 very evening you asked him, right at that moment, and it was
16 toward the end of the day, as he recalled it, you asked him
17 to see Dr. Gottlieb; that he expressed reservation about
18 assassination, but did go down to see Dr. Gottlieb. And
19 (Dr. Gottlieb discussed with him several lethal means, and he
20 immediately came back to your office and said, I won't
21 do it, and raised legal questions, moral questions --

22 Mr. Dawson. I don't think he testified that he imme-
23 diately came back.

24 Mr. Schwarz. The same day.

25 Mr. Wides. Same day -- and that he then went next

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

110 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

52

Mr. Bissell. I shouldn't be firm on the several weeks. But my recollection of the course of events differs in, I think, only one -- or is inconsistent with his recollection as you reported it in only the one respect, that the impression I carried away was that at a minimum some days -- and I had thought a period of at least a week elapsed between my giving him the assignment and his coming back to decline

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

53

1 the assignment and recommend a different approach. What
2 you further quote from his testimony I had not remembered, but
3 it does now seem to me that I do remember -- part of my
4 original recollection was that when he came back to me I have
5 several times used the phrase, this was not the way to deal
6 with the problem of Lumumba. And that is wholly consistent
7 with his having proposed other means of neutralizing Lumumba
8 short of using physical violence on him directly. I do seem
9 to recollect that.

10 And although I had not remembered it, I do now seem to
11 recollect that he went out there and with the assignment,
12 most of it in his recollection rather than mine, of looking
13 at other ways of neutralizing Lumumba. But my recollection
14 simply differs from his on the matters of the timing and how
15 soon he came back.

16 Mr. Wides. Do you recall when you proposed to Mr.
17 Harvey, in what I think we concluded was most probably very
18 early 1961, that he explore executive action capability,
19 and that two people who had been cut in in some way on earlier
20 considerations or explorations of assassination, and two
21 people whom therefore he might discuss this with, were Mr.

22 ⁰³
~~Arnold Silver~~ and Sidney Gottlieb?

23 Mr. Bissell. I can't say honestly that I recollect
24 that. But especially with respect to Gottlieb, this would
25 have been absolutely -- I am reasonably sure that is what

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

54

1 I would have done.

2 Mr. Wides. But you don't recall suggesting -- or if
3 he brought it up, approving -- his discussing it with them, in
4 part from a security angle, because Mr. Gottlieb had already
5 been cut in, so to speak, with regard to prior considerations
6 of assassination possibilities?

7 Mr. Bissell. Well, I am sorry to have to retreat
8 the inference. I think I would have encouraged him to talk
9 to them myself. And I don't think I would have particularly
10 worried at that point about the security implications.

11 Mr. Wides. Do you recall why you would have encouraged
12 him or suggested that he speak to Arnold Silver ⁰³?

13 Mr. Bissell. No, unless Arnold Silver ⁰³ had had some
14 connection with this operation. And I don't remember what
15 the circumstances were.

16 Mr. Baron. Do you recall an agent who went by the
17 cryptonym of QJWINN that I believe we discussed in your
18 earlier testimony?

19 Mr. Bissell. I dimly remember that there was such,
20 yes.

21 Mr. Baron. Do you recall that he worked for O'Donnell
22 in the Congo and was sent there by Arnold Silver ⁰³ who had
23 recruited him in Europe?

24 Mr. Bissell. I didn't recollect that.

25 Mr. Wides. Does it ring a bell of any sort?

TOP SECRET

3

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 0 0 0 3 3 3 0

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

55

1 Mr. Bissell. Well, there was an agent recruited in
2 Europe who was used against the Lumumba faction in the
3 Congo.

4 Now, the agent I have in mind, he was extremely success-
5 ful. He made a deep penetration of not only the Lumumba
6 sympathizers, but also of those individuals physically lo-
7 cated in Europe who were supplying Lumumba with money, and in
8 some cases giving him logistic support. This agent was ob-
9 viously engaged in an extremely hazardous business, because
10 if his cover had been blown he certainly would have been,
11 I think, killed.

12 Now, this may be the agent in question. I do not
13 remember that agent ever being put under O'Donnell's control.
14 But if O'Donnell was given the assignment to find ways of
15 neutralizing Lumumba, given that assignment to O'Donnell
16 when he went out there, it is very possible that this
17 agent would have been put in touch with him.

18 Mr. Schwarz. Why did you pick O'Donnell, incidentally,
19 for the initial assignment, the part that was killing him,
20 as opposed to other methods of neutralizing him?

21 Mr. Bissell. My recollection is that I regarded him
22 as highly competent in the craft, I think correctly. I
23 regarded him, I think incorrectly as the events turned out,
24 as a very tough guy in the sense this guy Harvey had, that
25 such reputation, and I think with hindsight deserved it.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

56

1 And I suspect -- I have some recollection that about that
2 time, in the fall of 1960, O'Donnell became available from
3 some previous assignment.

4 Mr. Wides. And you had had contact with him in regard
5 to his being Station Chief in ~~Turkey~~ during the U-2 program?

6 Mr. Bissell. Yes, I guess so. And other contacts. I
7 had known him in the agency.

8 Mr. Baron. Let's see if this refreshes your recollec-
9 tion on the use of QJWINN. He subsequently became the
10 principal asset in the ZRRIFLE program under Harvey's
11 direction?

12 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

13 Mr. Baron. And Harry apparently arranged with ~~Arnold~~
14 ~~Silver~~, who was supervising QJWINN in Europe, to have QJWINN
15 spot potential assets for the ZRRIFLE program in Europe.

16 Does that refresh your recollection as to QJWINN's
17 mission in the Congo?

18 Mr. Bissell. It suggests to me that the man I had
19 in mind was not QJWINN, but a different agent. And I don't
20 remember, I don't remember a thing about it.

21 Mr. Baron. What was QJWINN's mission in the Congo?

22 Mr. Bissell. I can only surmise that he had some
23 connection -- that either he had the means of "getting close
24 to Lumumba", or that he had connections that might provide --

25 Mr. Baron. I will represent to you that there is a

TOP SECRET

2

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

57

1 memo on November 2, 1960, sent by William Harvey in his
2 capacity as Chief of Staff D to Arnold Silver with a copy
3 going to Bronson Tweedy that describes QJWINN, and talks at
4 great length about his mission in the Congo, without pin-
5 pointing it. The memo talks about the fact that it is an
6 extremely sensitive operation, and that QJWINN himself wouldn't
7 be told the purpose of it before he is sent down there.

8 Does that refresh your recollection about his mission?

9 Mr. Bissell. I am afraid not.

10 Mr. Baron. If there were a mission in the Congo at
11 that point for Staff D purposes, what would that mission have
12 been?

13 Mr. Bissell. The Staff D was concerned with communications
14 intelligence, as you know. And I would surmise that a Staff
15 D connected mission in the Congo would have involved
16 planting means of listening to conversation or traffic or in
17 some other way intercepting communications. That is the
18 competence of Staff D and its responsibility.

19 Mr. Baron. Planting by means of surreptitious entry
20 or by other means?

21 Mr. Bissell. Yes, although Staff D wasn't concerned
22 with bugging people's rooms or this kind of thing. It is
23 concerned with true communications intelligence, or it was
24 at that time.

25 Mr. Baron. If you had informed William Harvey at the

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-5000

76000030863

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

58

TOP SECRET

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

59

Mr. Schwarz. Which started when?

Mr. Bissell. I don't remember.

Mr. Schwarz. 1960?

Mr. Bissell. I think it was 1960. And the background, as I am sure the record shows, was that Dr. Gottlieb had been in TSD, and he had then gone for a tour of duty, I believe, to ¹⁵⁻²¹ where he continued in the same kind of work. But he had a much closer connection with espionage operations and counter espionage in the field. When I brought him back his mission in effect was a very broad one, it really was to find ways and means -- to concentrate on technical ways and means, meaning by technical within the general area of the physical and biological sciences, of improving the effectiveness of all kinds of covert operations.

Now, in a sense that was the mission of the Technical Services Division itself. But Gottlieb's role was to pay special attention to the interconnections between the technical people in TSD and the operators in the rest of the clandestine service, and to find out whether the technical requirements that TSD was striving to meet were appropriate, in other words, did they really know what the operators needed and wanted, and also to find out if the operators knew what TSD had available. It was that kind of a thing.

Now, I had many conversations with him on that, because this was a success that interested me a great deal. And I

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

60

1 had great respect for his judgment. And especially given
2 this Congo involvement, I certainly would have discussed with
3 him, probably on a number of occasions, the availability of
4 means of incapacitation, including assassination.

5 Mr. Schwarz. And those discussions are prior to your
6 Harvey assignment?

7 Mr. Bissell. Yes, I believe so -- yes, they would
8 have.

9 Mr. Schwarz. Would have been or were?

10 Mr. Bissell. Well, Harvey's assignment wasn't until
11 January of 1961, so they obviously were.

12 Mr. Wides. Mr. Bissell, with regard to the earlier
13 discussion with your sense of authorization, you said that
14 you do recall the discussions with O'Donnell, and that although
15 you can't remember specific discussions with Tweedy, in
16 general you recall that you were looking into the possibility
17 of exploring and planning the possible assassination of
18 Lumumba?

19 Mr. Bissell. Right.

20 Mr. Wides. In the light of the documents from the
21 group and Mr. Dulles' cable that have been read, do you have
22 any recollection now wheher you thought at your level you
23 had sufficient authority that even though you had not done
24 so you could direct people below you to carry from the
25 planning stage into the implementation stage an assassination

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 0 0 0 2 0 8 5 5

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

61

1 of Lumumba at that time?

2 Mr. Bissell. I probably so believed. I think, how-
3 ever, given the context, it is very unlikely that I would
4 have taken such a step without clearing it with Allen Dulles.

5 Mr. Wides. You say you probably so believe. Is
6 that based at all on a recollection, or simply inference?

7 Mr. Bissell. It is the way my mind worked then, and
8 probably still does. You are asking me a question about whe-
9 ther I believed I had authority?

10 Mr. Wides. Yes.

11 Mr. Bissell. A good many years ago, and I am saying
12 that given the evidence here and the background as it has
13 been developed here this afternoon, it is my recollection that
14 given the way my mind works, I probably did think I had
15 authority.

16 But it is also very unlikely.

17 Mr. Schwarz. There are two parts of your answer which
18 were at war with each other. On the one hand you say, based
19 upon having seen some Special Group minutes and a cable,
20 both of which say in effect that killing should not be ruled
21 out as a matter of consideration --

22 Mr. Bissell. Right.

23 Mr. Schwarz. On the one hand you say that based upon
24 those two items, you probably believe you had authority to
25 order action?

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

62

1 Mr. Bissell. Right.

2 Mr. Schwarz. Move from contemplation to action or
3 consideration of action?

4 Mr. Bissell. Right.

5 Mr. Schwarz. On the other hand you say, well, yes,
6 although I probably believed that, on the other hand I
7 probably spoke to Mr. Dulles about it, or would have spoken
8 to Mr. Dulles about it.

9 Mr. Bissell. You will recognize that here again I am
10 talking about the pattern of my relationship with him and the
11 way the Agency worked.

12 Now, here was a matter in which the authorization, such
13 as it was, had come down clearly from the Special Group to
14 Mr. Dulles personally.

15 Mr. Schwarz. Now, we are talking about the exhibits
16 which show an authorization -- assuming you read the words
17 as meaning killing --

18 Mr. Bissell. Not excluding, yes.

19 Mr. Schwarz. -- an authorization to consider that.

20 Mr. Bissell. Right.

21 Mr. Schwarz. And that had come down?

22 Mr. Bissell. It had come down to me via Allen
23 Dulles, and in terms that Allen was in effect being strongly
24 encouraged to pursue the course of action outlined in the
25 exhibit. I think under these circumstances that I would have

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

63

1 gone back to him with, for instance, any cable of authoriza-
2 tion or other instruction before sending it out even if I
3 did believe him.

4 But let us say in his absence from Washington I had the
5 authority to send.

6 Mr. Dawson. You say unlike the case of the White House
7 where you would not take details back, in the case of Mr.
8 Dulles you would discuss the details of a specific operation?

9 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

10 Mr. Schwarz. But it is not really a matter of details,
11 Mr. Bissell. That is an important distinction. We have
12 been talking about a chain that starts with two memos, or three
13 memos. We have talked about contemplation or consideration,
14 don't rule out killing, it doesn't use the word killing, but
15 it could be read to mean killing, don't rule out killing from
16 the items to be considered.

17 Now, moving from doing it is not a detail, is it?

18 Mr. Bissell. No, I wouldn't call it a detail by any
19 manner of means, but I would read that language as authorizing
20 any decision by the Director or the Director's authority.

21 Mr. Schwarz. You would read the language of the two
22 exhibits, one of which comes from the Administration
23 and one of which is the Director cable --

24 Mr. Bissell. Right.

25 Mr. Schwarz. You would read the language of the Special

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

64

Group minutes --

Mr. Baron. Of August 25, 1960.

Mr. Bissell. Right.

Mr. Schwarz. May I see that?

After talking about extremely strong feelings, straightforward action, and Dulles commenting on taking this seriously, proceeding vigorously, the agreement is:

"It was finally agreed that planning for the Congo would not necessarily rule out 'consideration' of any particular kind of activity which might contribute to getting rid of Lumumba".

Now, the first point, you read that to mean not ruling out killing?

Mr. Bissell. Correct.

Mr. Schwarz. Now, was it just your testimony that you believe that the agreement that planning for the Congo would not necessarily rule out possible consideration of -- and now I will substitute the word killing -- is authority to actually order the killing -- sufficient authority?

Mr. Bissell. May I look again at the other exhibit, Mr. Dulles' cable of the next day.

(Discussion off the record.)

Mr. Schwarz. Back on the record.

There is a pending question.

Mr. Bissell. It is my belief on the basis of the cable

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

76000030870

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

65

drafted by Allen Dulles that he regarded the action of the Special Group as authorizing implementation if favorable circumstances presented themselves, if it could be done covertly. He speaks of targets of opportunity. He authorized, as I remember the words of the cable "even more aggressive action".

And the tone of the cable clearly gives the Station Chief a lot of latitude and conveys a sense of very great urgency.

Mr. Schwarz. And whether or not that is a proper construction of the Special Group is not really something we need to discuss.

Finish the Congo, then.

Mr. Baron. I have one more question on Mr. Gottlieb's visist. And that is, in the light of the entire atmosphere at the Agency and the policy at the Agency at that time, Mr. Gottlieb's representation to the Chief of Station that the President had instructed the DCI to carry out this mission would not have been beyond the pale of Mr. Gottlieb's authority at that point?

Mr. Bissell. No, it would not.

Mr. Baron. For the sake of the record, let's introduce as an exhibit the memo that I referred to earlier as November 1960. And I will ask you one question about it. This is a memo going from the Chief of KUTUBE/D. And that

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

1111

4
4
4
4
7
4

TOP SECRET

66

is the Foreign Intelligence Division, which would have been William Harvey at that time.

Mr. Bissell. I believe so.

(The document referred to was marked Bissell Exhibit No. 3 for identification.)

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

TOP SECRET

67

1

2

۱۲۱

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

18

18

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

10
9
8
7
6
5
4
3
2
1

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

68

1 Mr. Baron. This is a cable that we reviewed, Mr.
2 Bissell, before we began your testimony today. And I will
3 turn your attention to the paragraph that says:

4 "It is still difficult to determine whether Mobutu
5 had sufficient control army to enforce decisions announced
6 night 14 September. Station advised" --

7 And then there is a sanitized paragraph --

8 "Station advised two moderate Congolese politicians
9 'try work with key Congolese contact' in effort eliminate
10 Lumumba. Fear UN protection will give Lumumba opportunity
11 organization counterattack. Only solution is remove him
12 from scene soonest".

13 Now, the night of September 14 was the night of a coup
14 in the Congo where Mobutu took power, is that correct?

15 Mr. Bissell. Correct.

16 Mr. Baron. And does this cable refresh your recollec-
17 tion as to the attitude at the Agency toward Lumumba even
18 after he was in U.N. custody?

19 Mr. Bissell. Yes. It seems to say rather clearly
20 that it was still desirable to eliminate him.

21 Mr. Baron. Was it still your recollection, then, that
22 there was a continued sense of urgency about eliminating
23 Lumumba after he was in U.N. custody?

24 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

25 Mr. Baron. And this would account in part for the fact

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

69

1 that there was no clear order to stand down the assassination
2 mission after Lumumba was in U.N. custody?

3 Mr. Bissell. That is correct.

4 Mr. Baron. There is a set of NSC minutes from September
5 21, 1960, that I would like to introduce as Exhibit 5.

6 (The document referred to was
7 marked Bissell Exhibit No. 5
8 for identification.)
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

70

(The document referred to was marked Bissell Exhibit No. 6 for identification.)

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

71

1 Mr. Baron. And this cable deals with an incident where
2 an asset of the Chief of Station who was known by the cryptonym
3 WIROGUE made an approach to agent QJWIN. And the cable says:

4 "QJWIN, who resides same hotel as WIROGUE, reported that
5 he had lived Alaska, Japan, South America, Germany and other
6 parts Europe. QJWIN said, WIROGUE smells as though he in
7 intel business. Station denies any info on WIROGUE. 14
8 December QJWIN reported WIROGUE had offered him \$300 per
9 month to participate in intel net and be member execution
10 squad. When QJWIN said he not interested, WIROGUE added
11 there would be bonuses for special jobs. Under QJWIN
12 questioning, WIROGUE later said he worked for P.B. PRIME
13 Service".

14 Do you recall this incident?

15 Mr. Bissell. I don't, no.

16 Mr. Baron. Does P.B. Prime Service refer to the
17 American Intelligence Service?

18 Mr. Bissell. Yes, it does.

19 Mr. Baron. Namely, the CIA?

20 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

21 Mr. Baron. Do you recall anything about the formation
22 of an execution squad in the Congo during this period?

23 Mr. Bissell. I take that to be a phrase used by an
24 agent.

25 (Discussion off the record.)

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

72

1 Mr. diGenova. Mr. Bissell, I want to switch, unfortunately,
2 from the Continent of Africa and go to Cuba. This is the same
3 time period, however, it is July of 1960.

4 I had a conversation with you on August 6 over the
5 telephone. You may recall the conversation. I have in front
6 of me a cable which we will mark as Exhibit No. 7.

7 (The document referred to was
8 marked Bissell Exhibit No. 7
9 for identification.)
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

7 6 0 0 0 0 0 0 7 3

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

73

1 Mr. Baron. And this is a cable sent from headquarters
2 to the Havana Station dated July 21, 1960. The first
3 sentence of the cable reads:

4 "Possible removal top three leaders is receiving
5 serious consideration at headquarters".

6 The cable is signed by E. H. Hinkle by direction Tracy
7 Barnes for DDP, and about E.H. Hinkle by direction J.C. King,
8 Chief, Western Hemisphere Division as authenticating officer.
9 Relseasing officer was Tracy Barnes.

10 Do you have any independent recollection of that cable
11 and what surrounded its issuance at headquarters?

12 Mr. Bissell. I don't remember it until you mentioned it
13 to me in the telephone conversation to which you have alluded.

14 Mr. diGenova. Having had some time to think about it
15 since we spoke on August 6, does it ring any bell at this
16 juncture?

17 Mr. Bissell. It does not, I am afraid.

18 Mr. diGenova. It is apparent that this cable was
19 sent out at a time when you were having conversations in the
20 summer or the fall of 1960 with Mr. Tweedy and Mr. O'Donnell
21 concerning Mr. Lumumba, is that correct?

22 Mr. Bissell. Correct.

23 Mr. diGenova. Did Mr. Dulles at any time during this
24 period or prior to it or subsequent to it ever issue a directive
25 assigning assassination as an agency action?

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

74

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

75

1 Mr. diGenova. Now, the duty officer who had issued the
2 first cable about serious consideration, he had no personal
3 knowledge, but he had heard that Mr. Dulles had countermanded
4 the original cable, talking about the possible removal,
5 and authorizing the approach to the asset, the Cuban pilot,
6 who actually attempted the crash of the plane which would
7 carry Raol Castro from Prague to Havana.

8 Do you have any personal knowledge as to why Mr. Dulles
9 would have countermanded, assuming that he did?

10 Mr. Bissell. I don't have any recollection. I could
11 surmise lots of things.

12 Mr. diGenova. What I want to ask you is this: do
13 you have an independent recollection that any assassination
14 efforts against the Cuban leaders which were being considered
15 contemplated simultaneous action against all three, other-
16 wise it would be useless action?

17 Mr. Bissell. The only evidence I know of, hard evidence,
18 is the Special Group minute to which I referred earlier,
19 which was an exhibit in earlier testimony.

20 Mr. diGenova. You are referring to the Merchant cable
21 exchange of November 3, 1960?

22 Mr. Bissell. That is correct.

23 Mr. diGenova. Now, Mr. Hinkle, the duty officer,
24 has no personal knowledge about the rescission of that cable.

25 Does it seem to you upon reflection, knowing what you

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

76

1 know -- for example, Mr. Dulles cable to the Congo personally
2 authorizing, apparently, the assassination of Mr. Lumumba,
3 and \$100,000 to do it -- is it inconsistent to your way of
4 thinking that he would have authorized that assassination and
5 would have rescinded this cable that would have apparently
6 authorized the assassination of Raol^u Castro.

7 Mr. Bissell. Not inconsistent at all. I think it may
8 well have embodied a judgment on Mr. Dulles part that this
9 effort concerning Raol^u Castro was altogether too risky, and
10 technically not sufficiently likely of success.

11 Mr. diGenova. During our initial telephone conversa-
12 tion on August 6 you speculated, and you clearly identified it
13 as mere speculation, that one of the reasons that Mr. Dulles,
14 assuming he did, ordered that initial cable countermanded was,
15 first, too many innocent persons on the plane would have
16 been killed, and second, that it was so risky because there
17 had been just an initial approach of the asset and it wasn't
18 known whether or not he was a double agent, and thirdly, it
19 appeared that the contemplation of all three, the assassina-
20 tion of all three was being considered, and, therefore, since
21 only Raol would be on this plane that it would have resulted
22 in the dilemma that they sought to avoid, that is, if
23 he had been killed there would have been two left over, and
24 there may have been a reason that he ordered the countermand.

25 Would you take by that as a form of speculation at this

TOP SECRET

TOP SECRET

77

1 point as one of the reasons that he would have countermanded
2 that cable?

3 Mr. Bissell. I would.

4 Mr. Schwarz. Could I follow up on the Congo, Exhibit
5 2, the Dulles cable to Leopoldville.

6 Now, we apparently read to you when I was out of the
7 room the first paragraph at least, which talks about the clear-
8 cut conclusion:

9 "If he continues to hold high office the inevitable
10 result would be chaos and at worst pave the way for Communist
11 takeover. Consequently, we conclude that his removal must
12 be an urgent and prime objective, and under existing conditions
13 this must be a high priority of your covert action".

14 And you have read that language as meaning killing, right?

15 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

16 Mr. Schwarz. I want to ask you if you continue to
17 read it as killing in the light of the third paragraph of
18 the cable which reads as follows:

19 "To the extent that Ambassador may desire to be con-
20 sulted you should seek his concurrence. If in any particular
21 case he does not wish to be consulted you can act on your
22 own authority where time does not permit reference here.

23 "Paragraph 4, this message has been seen and approved
24 at competent level of the Department of State".

25 Do you still believe in the light of the authorization

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

78

1 to discuss the matter with the Ambassador that assassination
2 was involved?

3 Mr. Bissell. Yes, especially since there is evidence
4 here that it was discussed with and approved at State, and
5 in the light of the background in this Special Group.

6 Mr. Schwarz. You don't think this is referring to
7 a coup?

8 Mr. Bissell. I don't think so. But I can't be
9 perfectly certain. But I think it refers to more than that.
10 I think actually it is saying, his removal by some means or
11 other is the very high priority objective. I would infer
12 from this that what we know was discussed at least in the
13 Special Group, and that is that removal might be by the means
14 of assassination, although obviously others would be preferred.

15 Could I add one word in answer to that question. I am
16 almost certain I am correct, that the then Ambassador to
17 the Congo was Edward Gullion.

18 Mr. Baron. I believe it was Timberlake.

19 Mr. Bissell. I think Gullion had arrived by this
20 time. But certainly in Gullion's regime there was extremely
21 close collaboration between the Ambassador and the Chief of
22 Station. And the Ambassador was an individual who would have
23 been quite prepared to contemplate this kind of action.

24 Mr. Wides. Mr. Bissell, just to make sure the record
25 is complete in terms of your efforts to analyze that, if I

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

79

1 represented to you that at the time there was traffic between
2 the station and headquarters in the normal African Division
3 channels regarding U.S. efforts to influence President
4 Kasavubu and others to dismiss Lumumba from political power as
5 premier, and also traffic relating to a takeover of the real
6 power by certain military figures such as Mr. Mobutu, would
7 your reading of that cable still be that it suggests authori-
8 zation of assassination as opposed to possibly discussing
9 only authorization of removal of him from political power?

10 Mr. Bissell. I think it authorizes removal. And I
11 think that probably Mr. Dulles would have said, if you
12 can possibly really remove him through political power, that
13 is obviously the preferred course of action.

14 But I think this authorizes the whole tone of it very
15 strong measures indeed.

16 I say in support of that, there had been a record
17 established that even after Lumumba had been removed from
18 political power and had taken refuge in the U.N. he was
19 still widely regarded as a menace.

20 Mr. Dawson. I would like to follow very briefly on
21 this. I would like to ask you about this agent that you did
22 have a firm recollection of being President of the Congo. He
23 was described as being a well-placed or a very good agent,
24 was he not?

25 Mr. Bissell. I think he was a very good agent, and

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

80

1 also he made an effective penetration of Lumumba's supporters
2 both in the Congo, and as it were, in the line of funding
3 and supply in Europe.

4 Mr. Dawson. So, he was in place, so to speak?

5 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

6 In other words, he was a dual agent.

7 Mr. Dawson. Did he have access directly to Lumumba?

8 Mr. Bissell. I think he did, yes.

9 Mr. Dawson. Do you remember having been told that he
10 sometime in November or December went to Stanleyville?

11 Mr. Bissell. I don't remember the specific case, but
12 it fits the pattern very well. What I do remember is one
13 operation. But he knew of, he was close enough to -- he
14 was used as a courier from Lumumba, I think, first in the
15 capitol, and then later from Stanleyville to Europe. And
16 on one occasion, because he had penetrated so effectively, he
17 was aware that a large amount of cash was being taken by two
18 other couriers down to the Congo, and as a result of his
19 awareness of that, and all the details of that trip, that
20 shipment was intercepted.

21 Mr. Dawson. The Chief of Station testified about
22 having an agent that had access.

23 Would this have been the agent that he believed he
24 would have access to?

25 Mr. Bissell. I believe he would have, yes.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

81

Mr. Dawson. Thank you.

Mr. Wides. Mr. Bissell, touching briefly on Indonesia when you testified to the Rockefeller Commission, and this was reviewed very summarily when he testified before us, that you recalled some possibility -- some planning of a possibility of assassinating Sukarno, progressing as far as the identification of an asset who might be recruited for this purpose, but the plan was never reached and never perfected to a point where it was decided to go ahead.

Do you recall anything, or do you have any information that would be relevant to our information that a Moslem asset from the Middle East was recruited who was considered for an operation in Indonesia against Sukarno with the crypt ⁰² INFORMATION, and an operation that in regard at least to the assassination aspects had been started by Kim Roosevelt because of his ties with the Mid-East?

Does that ring a bell at all?

Mr. Bissell. No, sir. That one I don't remember at all. I remember enough of the plan that I referred to know that what you speak of was a different activity.

Mr. Wides. And the one you referred to involved indigenous Indonesians?

Mr. Bissell. I think it involved -- I don't know what nationality the asset, but I think it involved a member of an air crew on a commercial airline, -- not on a

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

82

1 commercial, I will take that back, on a flight that might
2 be chartered, for Sukarno.

3 Mr. Wides. Either when you became DDP or before,
4 whether or not you were personally involved, did you ever hear
5 anything regarding any efforts by the CIA to assassinate Nasser
6 and to send teams, assassination teams into Egypt for that
7 purpose?

8 Mr. Bissell. No, I never did. I could almost go so far
9 as to say that that was one that was never even thought of.

10 Mr. Schwarz. We forgot to ask you a question which we
11 ask almost all the other high people who come down here to
12 testify.

13 Looking back on things, now, -- and I hate to use the
14 word get rid of, but let me -- do you think the U.S. should get
15 rid of assassination as a tool?

16 Mr. Bissell. I think in today's atmosphere the answer
17 is yes.

18 Mr. Wides. Why do you think that?

19 Mr. Bissell. I think that to use means for the
20 advancement of policy of such a sort that in the pre-
21 vailing climate these days would be almost certainly dis-
22 approved of by a large majority of the legislative arm, and
23 the public at large, and everybody else, is unwise unless
24 you can have absolute confidence of total security. And by
25 security I mean that outside of the two or three people who

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

410 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

TOP SECRET

83

1 undertake the effort, nobody else will ever know about it.

2 Now, that circumstance doesn't obtain today, it never
3 has, but it certainly doesn't today. And I think the climate
4 is as I have described. And I, therefore, would eliminate this
5 method.

6 Mr. diGenova. I just have one question. I apologize for
7 jumping around, but part of this is to get you out of here.

8 When the phrase "receiving serious consideration" in
9 headquarters was used in that cable that we alluded to in
10 regard to the attempt to kill Raol Castro, what does that mean
11 to you when Tracy Barnes authorized that sort of language
12 to be used in a cable?

13 Mr. Bissell. It means that he had fought and talked
14 about this, and almost certainly that I have. And it
15 may refer to considerations with Allen Dulles. I can't
16 tell how wide ranging they would be. They would probably
17 have involved J.C. King, the head of that division.

18 Mr. Schwarz. Did Barnes work for you?

19 Mr. Bissell. Yes, he did.

20 Mr. Schwarz. He is now dead, isn't he?

21 Mr. Bissell. Yes.

22 Mr. diGenova. But that was not light language when
23 it was sent to a station?

24 Mr. Bissell. No.

25 It was sent to encourage careful planning.

TOP SECRET

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

310 First Street, S.E., Washington, D.C. 20003

84

(Whereupon, at 4:25 p.m., the hearing was concluded.)

— — —

Phone (Area 202) 544-6000

WARD & PAUL

U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE: 2006

TOP SECRET